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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549
___________________________________

FORM 10-Q/A
(Mark One)

(X) QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15 (d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

FOR THE QUARTER ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002

OR

(  ) TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Commission File Number 001-15823

VIRAGEN, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 59-2101668
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
incorporation or organization)

865 SW 78th Avenue, Suite 100, Plantation, Florida 33324
(Address of principal executive offices)

(954) 233-8746
(Registrant�s telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject
to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes [X] No [  ]

As of February 13, 2003 there were 147,695,712 shares of the issuer�s common stock outstanding, par value $0.01.
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PART I � FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

VIRAGEN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
December 31, December 31,

2002 2001 2002 2001

Product sales $ 126,592 $ 461,892 $ 471,477 $ 461,892
Costs and expenses
Cost of sales 100,866 443,530 419,039 443,530
Research and development 855,049 1,347,439 1,687,377 2,839,761
Selling, general and administrative 1,715,876 1,972,130 3,447,124 3,253,748
Amortization of intangible assets 58,108 51,518 115,125 51,518
Interest and other income (61,196) (52,926) (102,800) (138,312)
Interest expense 1,942,195 46,928 2,753,463 48,756

Loss before income taxes and
minority interest (4,484,306) (3,346,727) (7,847,851) (6,037,109)
Income tax benefit 19,386 112 38,772 73,426
Minority interest in loss of
subsidiaries 332,286 264,013 661,761 362,281

Net loss (4,132,634) (3,082,602) (7,147,318) (5,601,402)
Deduct required dividends on
convertible preferred stock, Series A 663 662 1,325 1,325

Loss attributable to common stock $ (4,133,297) $ (3,083,264) $ (7,148,643) $ (5,602,727)

Loss per common share, after
deduction of required dividends on
convertible preferred stock � basic and
diluted $ (0.04) $ (0.03) $ (0.06) $ (0.06)

Weighted average common shares �
basic and diluted 117,196,983 99,907,811 112,032,583 99,756,747

See notes to consolidated condensed financial statements which are an integral part of these statements.
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VIRAGEN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, June 30,
2002 2002

(Unaudited)
ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 31,953 $ 765,861
Accounts receivable 63,083 349,965
Inventories 2,839,059 1,866,568
Prepaid expenses 381,572 399,626
Other current assets 328,372 1,033,287

Total current assets 3,644,039 4,415,307
Property, plant and equipment

Land, building and improvements 3,391,675 3,254,701
Equipment and furniture 5,289,766 5,022,695
Construction in progress 502,050 375,373

9,183,491 8,652,769
Less accumulated depreciation (3,061,248) (2,678,299)

6,122,243 5,974,470
Goodwill 8,887,444 8,460,940
Developed technology, net 1,785,503 1,765,618
Other intangible assets, net � 50,619
Deposits and other assets 129,650 129,650

$ 20,568,879 $ 20,796,604

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS�
EQUITY

Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ 2,334,998 $ 1,583,333
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 849,098 1,081,079
Convertible debentures 1,528,636 711,982
Lines of credit and short term promissory notes 1,023,095 1,294,904
Current portion of long-term debt 122,408 72,374
Deferred tax liability, current 43,828 60,686

Total current liabilities 5,902,063 4,804,358
Royalties payable 107,866 107,866
Long-term debt, less current portion 980,408 1,023,948
Minority interest in subsidiaries 2,334,094 2,845,616
Deferred tax liability 522,282 544,196
Commitments and Contingencies
Stockholders� equity

Convertible 10% Series A cumulative preferred stock,
$1.00 par value. Authorized 375,000 shares; issued and
outstanding 2,650 shares. Liquidation preference value:
$10 per share, aggregating $26,500 2,650 2,650
Common stock, $.01 par value. Authorized 150,000,000
shares at December 31, 2002 and June 30, 2002;

1,272,418 1,048,317
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127,241,940 issued and 126,396,663 outstanding at
December 31, 2002; 104,831,855 issued and 103,986,578
outstanding at June 30, 2002
Capital in excess of par value 101,485,650 96,197,939
Treasury stock, 845,277 shares at December 31, 2002 and
June 30, 2002, at cost (1,277,613) (1,277,613)
Accumulated deficit (92,087,856) (84,939,213)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 1,377,829 656,237
Notes due from directors (50,912) (217,697)

Total stockholders� equity 10,722,166 11,470,620

$ 20,568,879 $ 20,796,604

See notes to consolidated condensed financial statements which are an integral part of these statements.
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VIRAGEN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Unaudited)

Six Months Ended
December 31,

2002 2001

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss $(7,147,318) $(5,601,402)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 423,931 336,298
Amortization of intangible assets 115,125 51,518
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 8,578 �
Compensation expense on stock options and warrants (61,493) 131,801
Minority interest in loss of subsidiaries (661,761) (362,281)
Amortization of discount on convertible debentures and promissory notes 2,422,951 �
Amortization of deferred financing costs 144,037 �
Income tax benefit (38,772) �

Increase (decrease) relating to operating activities from:
Accounts receivable 286,882 60,726
Inventories (972,491) 204,749
Prepaid expenses 66,424 166,787
Other current assets 826,978 179,556
Deposit and other assets � 21,404
Accounts payable 726,597 (544,115)
Accrued expenses and other liabilities (233,306) 61,989
Notes due from directors 4,836 (3,549)

Net cash used in operating activities (4,088,802) (5,296,519)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Additions to property, plant and equipment (329,349) (219,556)
Acquisition of ViraNative, net of cash acquired � (165,627)

Net cash used in investing activities (329,349) (385,183)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net proceeds from private placements 2,735,523 332,199
Net borrowings on lines of credit and short term promissory notes (325,626) 46,171
Payments on long-term debt (27,391) (34,138)
Net proceeds from issuance of convertible debentures 2,308,250 �
Payments on convertible debentures (1,111,113) �
Collections on notes due from directors 50,000 50,000
Proceeds from exercise of options and warrants 14,433 238,238

Net cash provided by financing activities 3,644,076 632,470
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash 40,167 (85,684)

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (733,908) (5,134,916)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 765,861 7,659,153

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 31,953 $ 2,524,237

See notes to consolidated condensed financial statements which are an integral part of these statements.
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VIRAGEN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE A � CONSOLIDATION AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

     Viragen, Inc. and its subsidiaries are engaged in the research, development, manufacture and sale of certain immunological products for the
treatment of life-threatening illnesses. We are also in the business of developing innovative technologies aimed at improving the manufacturing
processes used to produce certain medical therapies.

     The accompanying unaudited consolidated condensed financial statements include Viragen, Inc., Viragen International, Inc. and all
subsidiaries, including those operating outside the United States of America. All significant transactions among our businesses have been
eliminated. The consolidated condensed financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States, which contemplate continuation of the Company as a going concern.

     As of December 31, 2002 and June 30, 2002 our ownership interest in Viragen International was approximately 72.8% and 70.2%,
respectively. If ViraNative, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Viragen International acquired in September 2001, meets all of the milestones under
the acquisition agreement, our ownership interest in Viragen International would be reduced to approximately 59.2% assuming additional
Viragen International shares are not issued for any other purposes.

     The accompanying unaudited interim consolidated condensed financial statements for Viragen have been prepared in accordance with the
instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in
financial statements prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States have been condensed or omitted.
The balance sheet at June 30, 2002 has been derived from the audited financial statements at that date. Certain amounts in prior year�s
consolidated condensed financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current year�s presentation. The reclassifications had no
effect on previously reported results of operations.

     For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2002, the report of our independent auditors contains an explanatory paragraph indicating substantial doubt
as to our ability to continue as a going concern, due to our financial condition. Our financial condition has not improved subsequent to our fiscal
year end. If we are unable to raise additional debt or equity funding it will be necessary for us to significantly curtail or suspend a portion or all
of our operations. No assurance can be given that additional funding will be available or if available, under what terms.

     During fiscal 2002, 2001 and 2000, we incurred significant losses of approximately $11,089,000, $11,008,000 and $12,311,000, respectively,
and has an accumulated deficit of approximately $92,088,000 as of December 31, 2002. Additionally, we had a cash balance of approximately
$32,000 and a working capital deficit of approximately $2,258,000 at December 31, 2002. Management anticipates additional future losses as it
commercializes its natural human interferon product and conducts additional research activities and clinical trials to obtain additional regulatory
approvals. Accordingly, we will require substantial additional funding. These factors, among others, raise substantial doubt about our ability to
continue as a going concern. The accompanying consolidated condensed financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the
recoverability and classification of asset carrying amounts or the amount and classification of liabilities that might result from the outcome of
these uncertainties.
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VIRAGEN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(CONTINUED)

NOTE B � INTERIM ADJUSTMENTS AND USE OF ESTIMATES

     The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of income and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. In the opinion of
management, all adjustments, including normal recurring accruals, considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included.

     Operating results for the three and six months periods ended December 31, 2002 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be
expected for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2003.

     The unaudited interim consolidated condensed financial statements should be read in conjunction with Management�s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contained in this report and the audited consolidated financial statements and
accompanying notes included in the Company�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2002, filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

NOTE C � ACQUISITION

     On September 28, 2001, Viragen International, Inc., our majority owned subsidiary, acquired all of the outstanding shares of BioNative AB
(�BioNative�), a privately held biotechnology company located in Umeå, Sweden. BioNative manufactured a human leukocyte interferon
(alpha) product called Interferon Alfanative®. Subsequent to the acquisition, BioNative was renamed ViraNative and Interferon Alfanative was
further developed into our new product, Multiferon®.

     The initial purchase consideration consisted of 2,933,190 shares of Viragen International common stock, which was valued at approximately
$2.2 million based on the market price of Viragen International common stock at the date of the acquisition. In addition, Viragen International
incurred approximately $204,000 in acquisition related costs. In January 2002, ViraNative received notification from the Medical Products
Agency in Sweden that ViraNative�s Re-registration certificate was approved and as a second line treatment for any indication where patients did
not respond to recombinant interferon. At that time, the former shareholders of ViraNative were issued an additional 8,799,570 shares of
Viragen International common stock, which represented achievement of the first two milestones as defined in the acquisition agreement. The
additional shares of Viragen International common stock were valued at approximately $6.6 million, based on the market price of Viragen
International common stock at the time the milestones were achieved, all of which was allocated to goodwill.

7

Edgar Filing: VIRAGEN INC - Form 10-Q/A

Table of Contents 11



Table of Contents

VIRAGEN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(CONTINUED)

NOTE C � ACQUISITION � (Continued)

     In connection with the acquisition, the former shareholders of ViraNative are entitled to additional shares of Viragen International common
stock contingent upon the attainment of certain milestones related to regulatory approvals:

� 8,799,570 additional shares when and if the Mutual Recognition Procedures application has received the approval of the requisite
national and EU regulatory authorities for the use, sale and marketing of Multiferon in certain countries which must include
Germany; and

� 2,933,190 additional shares when and if Multiferon has been approved by the requisite regulatory bodies in the EU for the treatment
of Melanoma or when Multiferon has been approved by the requisite regulatory bodies for sale in the USA.

     As each of these milestones is met, the additional shares of Viragen International will be issued, which will result in the recognition of
additional intangible assets.

     The acquisition, completed on September 28, 2001, was accounted for as a purchase under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 141 and, accordingly, the results of ViraNative�s operations are included in the Company�s consolidated results from the date of the
acquisition.

NOTE D � GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

     The goodwill reported in our balance sheets as of December 31, 2002 and June 30, 2002 arose from our acquisition of ViraNative in
September 2001 and the subsequent achievement of certain milestones by ViraNative in January 2002 as discussed in Note C. In accordance
with the provisions of SFAS No. 142, goodwill will not be amortized but will be reviewed for impairment on an annual basis or sooner if
indicators of impairment arise. As of the date of these financial statements, we are not aware of any items or events that would cause us to adjust
the recorded value of our goodwill for impairment. The following table reflects the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the six
months ended December 31, 2002.

Balance as of June 30, 2002 $8,460,940
Goodwill acquired during the year �
Foreign exchange adjustment 426,504

Balance as of December 31, 2002 $8,887,444

     The intangible assets reported in our balance sheets as of December 31, 2002 and June 30, 2002 arose from our acquisition of ViraNative in
September 2001. As of December 31, 2002, intangible assets consist of the following:

Gross Carrying Accumulated
Amount Amortization

Developed technology $1,958,294 $(172,791)
Customer contract 132,927 (132,927)

Total intangible assets $2,091,221 $(305,718)
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VIRAGEN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(CONTINUED)

NOTE D � GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS � (Continued)

     The developed technology consists of the production and purification methods developed by ViraNative prior to the acquisition by Viragen
International. This technology was complete and ViraNative had been selling the resultant natural interferon product prior to the acquisition by
Viragen International.

     The acquired developed technology was recorded at its estimated fair value which was determined using a royalty savings method. This
method utilized ViraNative�s projected revenues subsequent to the date of acquisition through June 30, 2010. An estimated royalty savings rate of
10% was used to determine the royalties that would be saved had the Company licensed the technology from a third party. This 10% royalty rate
was determined based on an analysis of several licensing agreements in the market place for technologies employed in the development of both
natural and synthetic interferon. The estimated future royalty savings amounts were discounted using a risk-adjusted rate of 22%. A residual
value was also computed for the period beyond June 30, 2010, which utilized annual growth rates of 15% from 2011 through 2015 and 10%
from 2016 through 2019. The royalty rate of 10% and risk-adjusted discount rate of 22% remained the same in computing the residual value.
The sum of the discounted royalty savings for the period subsequent to the date of acquisition through June 30, 2010 and the residual value
computed for the period beyond June 30, 2010 resulted in the fair value at which this intangible asset was recorded at the date of acquisition.
Subsequent to the initial recording of this intangible asset, the gross carrying amount has increased by approximately $308,000 as a result of
foreign currency fluctuations between the U.S. dollar and the Swedish Krona.

     The developed technology is being amortized over its estimated useful life of approximately 14 years. The 14-year life assigned to this asset
was determined using a weighted average of the remaining lives of the patents on the various components of the production and purification
processes. The customer contract represented a purchase agreement with a customer that expired in December 2002 and accordingly this
intangible asset was fully amortized at December 31, 2002. The estimated aggregate amortization expense for the fiscal year ended June 30,
2003 and the four succeeding fiscal years is as follows:

2003 $182,000
2004 133,000
2005 133,000
2006 133,000
2007 133,000

NOTE E � INVENTORIES

     Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market (estimated net realizable value). Raw materials and supplies cost is determined on a
first-in, first-out basis. Work in process and finished products costs consisting of materials, labor and overhead are recorded at a standard cost
(which approximates actual cost). If the cost of the inventories exceeds their expected market value, provisions are recorded currently for the
difference between the cost and the market value. These provisions are determined based on estimates. Finished products consist of purified
human leukocyte interferon.

     Inventories consisted of the following at December 31, 2002 and June 30, 2002:

December 31, June 30,
2002 2002

Finished products $ 677,934 $ 410,343
Work in process 2,025,320 1,293,851
Raw materials and supplies 135,805 162,374

Total inventories $2,839,059 $1,866,568
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VIRAGEN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(CONTINUED)

NOTE F � DEBT

Lines of Credit and Short Term Borrowings

     On May 15, 2000, Viragen was approved for a $500,000 unsecured line of credit with a bank located in Florida. Interest is payable at the
greater of 7.25% or the Prime Rate, as quoted by The Wall Street Journal and is adjustable daily. This unsecured line of credit was renewed on
May 15, 2001, under the same terms, and remained unused until May 2002. The facility was renewed on May 15, 2002 and subsequently
through January 15, 2003. There were no outstanding borrowings under this credit facility as of December 31, 2002 compared to $300,000
outstanding at June 30, 2002.

     Through Viragen International�s Swedish subsidiary, ViraNative, we may borrow up to approximately $960,000 under an overdraft facility
with a bank in Sweden. Borrowings outstanding under this facility are at a floating rate of interest which was approximately 7.5% at
December 31, 2002. The facility renews annually and was renewed in December 2002. Outstanding borrowings under this agreement totaled
approximately $960,000 as of December 31, 2002. The overdraft facility is secured by certain assets of ViraNative including inventories and
accounts receivable.

     During August 2002, Viragen obtained short term financing of approximately $31,000 for the purchase of certain corporate insurance
policies. Outstanding borrowings under this arrangement bear interest at an effective rate of approximately 6.45%. Principal and interest
payments of approximately $3,200 are payable monthly. The outstanding balance on this short term borrowing was approximately $19,000 as of
December 31, 2002. The final payment on this short term borrowing will be in June 2003.

     During June 2002, Viragen obtained short term financing of approximately $183,000 for the purchase of certain corporate insurance policies.
Outstanding borrowings under this arrangement bear interest at an effective rate of approximately 5.53%. Principal and interest payments of
approximately $21,000 are payable monthly. The outstanding balance on this short term borrowing was approximately $62,000 as of
December 31, 2002. The final payment on this short term borrowing will be in March 2003.

Long-Term Debt

     As of December 31, 2002, our long-term debt totaling approximately $1,103,000 consisted of a mortgage loan agreement with a Swedish
bank and two other loan agreements with Swedish governmental agencies. Outstanding borrowings under these agreements bear interest at rates
ranging from 5.35% to 11.4%.

     Long-term debt includes a 25-year mortgage obtained to purchase one of our facilities in Sweden. The outstanding principal balance on this
loan was approximately $639,000 at December 31, 2002. This loan carries a floating rate of interest which was approximately 5.35% at
December 31, 2002. We are required to make quarterly payments of principal and interest of approximately $7,000 under this agreement. This
loan matures in September 2024 and is secured by the related land and building with a carrying value of approximately $766,000 as of
December 31, 2002.
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VIRAGEN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(CONTINUED)

NOTE F � DEBT � (Continued)

     Under the terms of a credit facility with a Swedish agency that was obtained for the purposes of conducting clinical trials, we are not required
to begin quarterly principal and interest payments of approximately $25,000 until March 2003. This credit facility had an outstanding balance of
approximately $463,000 and carries a floating rate of interest at the Stockholm Interbank Offered Rate (STIBOR) 90 plus 7%, which was
approximately 11.4% as of December 31, 2002.

NOTE G � CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES

     On November 8, 2002, Viragen entered into a securities purchase agreement (Agreement) with Palisades Equity Fund, Bristol Investment
Fund and Alpha Capital AG (the Purchasers) for financing in the aggregate amount of $1,950,000. Under the terms of the Agreement, Viragen
received $896,000, net of a 6.5% finder�s fee and legal expenses on November 15, 2002, representing the first half of the financing. Subsequent
to Company�s related registration statement being declared effective by the SEC, Viragen received an additional $911,600, net of a 6.5% finder�s
fee and miscellaneous expenses on December 13, 2002, representing the remaining half of the financing.

     The convertible debentures accrue interest at the rate of 5% per annum payable semi-annually and have a two-year term. The debentures are
convertible immediately into shares of Viragen common stock. The conversion price was initially equal to $0.175 (the Set Price). However, if
after the earlier of the related registration statement going effective, the closing bid price for any 20 consecutive trading day period is less than
137.5% of the Set Price, the Set Price shall be reduced to thereafter equal 70% of the average of the closing bid price for the 5 days preceding
conversion. The Set Price was subject to a floor of $0.125. However, subsequent to the issuance of these debentures, Viragen entered into a
securities purchase agreement for additional financing in the form of convertible debentures (See Note L). At this time, $300,000 of the
remaining principal on the debentures issued in November and December became convertible into shares of Viragen common stock at a
conversion price equal to $0.085 and $675,000 of the remaining principal on the debentures issued in November and December became
convertible into shares of Viragen common stock at a conversion price equal to $0.0625.

     The Agreement also provided for the issuance of 604,500 common stock purchase warrants exercisable at a price of $0.20 per share, 744,500
common stock purchase warrants exercisable at a price of $0.25 per share, 604,500 common stock purchase warrants exercisable at a price of
$0.30 per share, 1,625,000 common stock purchase warrants exercisable at a price of $0.40 per share and 1,300,000 common stock purchase
warrants exercisable at a price of $0.60 per share. These warrants are exercisable during the three year period terminating November 14, 2005
and can be exercised on a cashless basis whereby the holder may surrender a number of warrants equal to the exercise price of the warrants
being exercised. The relative fair value of the warrants was calculated to be $326,260 using a Black-Scholes valuation model. The relative fair
value of the warrants was recorded as a discount on the principal amount of the debentures and will be amortized to interest expense using the
effective interest rate method over the life of the debentures. Through December 31, 2002, the Company recognized approximately $135,000 of
interest expense from the amortization of the discount that arose from the warrants. Subsequent to the issuance of these warrants, and as a result
of the securities purchase agreement for additional financing described in Note L, the exercise price of these warrants was reduced to $0.0625.
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VIRAGEN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(CONTINUED)

NOTE G � CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES � (Continued)

     As a result of the stock purchase warrants issued along with the debentures and the calculated effective conversion price of the debentures, a
beneficial conversion amount of approximately $661,000 was calculated and charged to interest expense upon the issuance of the debentures.
Due to the subsequent reductions in the conversion price on the debentures from $0.175, additional beneficial conversion of approximately
$427,000 was calculated and charged to interest expense during the period ended December 31, 2002. The conversion price on the debentures
was further reduced during January 2003, which will result in the recognition of additional interest expense in our third fiscal quarter.

     The company incurred costs of approximately $153,000 in connection with the debentures issued during November and December 2002,
which consisted of the finder�s fees, legal fees and the fair value of warrants issued to the finder. These costs will be amortized to interest
expense over the life of the debentures using the effective interest rate method. Through December 31, 2002, the Company recognized
approximately $63,000 of interest expense from the amortization of these issuance costs.

     During December 2002, the Purchasers converted $730,000 of principal and related accrued interest on the debentures resulting in the
issuance of approximately 5.8 million shares of Viragen common stock. Subsequent to December 31, 2002 the Purchasers converted the
remaining $1,220,000 of principal and related accrued interest on the debentures resulting in the issuance of approximately 16.4 million shares
of Viragen common stock. No further amounts are due on these debentures.

     During August 2002, Viragen executed a $500,000, 90 day Note with Isosceles Fund Limited. The Note bears interest at 8% and is secured
by 2.5 million shares of Viragen common stock. In connection with this transaction, we issued 53,868 Viragen common stock purchase warrants
exercisable at $0.53 per share for a period of three years. In November 2002, the Note was amended to eliminate the fixed maturity date and
make the Note payable within three business days following demand. The Note was also amended to provide for conversion of outstanding
principal and interest into shares of Viragen common stock at a price of $0.175 per share in lieu of cash at Isosceles� option. This conversion
price has subsequently been reduced to $0.085. This conversion price is subject to further adjustment in the event of stock dividends, mergers,
certain distributions of common stock or issuance of common stock at less than the conversion price on the date of issuance and less than the fair
value of common stock at date of issuance. If Isosceles does not elect to convert the Note within 90 days of the amendment, the amendment
provides for the issuance of 116,500 warrants at $0.25 per share, 116,500 warrants at $0.30 per share, 116,500 warrants at $0.35 per share,
406,250 warrants at $0.50 per share and 375,000 warrants at $0.60 per share. The warrants would be exercisable for a three year period. If and
when these warrants are issued, the fair value of the warrants would be charged to interest expense at the time of issuance. As a result of the
securities purchase agreement for additional financing described in Note L, the exercise price of these warrants would be reduced to $0.0625.
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VIRAGEN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(CONTINUED)

NOTE G � CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES � (Continued)

     On January 15, 2002, Viragen entered into a securities purchase agreement with Elliott International, L.P. and Elliott Associates, L.P.
(�Elliott�). Under the terms of this agreement, we issued two convertible debentures for a total principal amount of $2,500,000. The debentures
carried an interest rate of 6% per annum. The principal and interest were payable commencing April 1, 2002 over nine equal monthly
installments. Viragen paid $176,000 for placement fees and expenses on the transaction. Possible shares to be issued and the warrants under this
agreement are registered under the Form S-3 registration statement (File No. 333-82452) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission,
which was declared effective on February 26, 2002.

     The monthly installments were payable in shares of common stock or cash (with a 5% premium) at our option. The debentures were
convertible into shares of common stock at a price equal to the Conversion Price ($1.29465 per share) or, with respect to monthly installments
which we elected to pay in stock, the lesser of the Conversion Price or 90% of the arithmetic mean of the ten lowest volume weighted average
prices during the twenty days preceding conversion, but not less than $0.75 per share. The agreement provided that if we requested to make a
monthly payment with stock valued at less than $0.75 per share, Elliott could, at their option, waive the $0.75 per share minimum.

     Under the securities purchase agreement, Elliott also received warrants to purchase a total of 405,515 shares of Viragen common stock. The
warrants were exercisable at $1.4796 per share through January 11, 2007. The warrants can be exercised on a cashless basis whereby the holder
may surrender a number of warrants equal to the exercise price of the warrants being exercised. The relative fair value of the warrants was
calculated to be $230,000 using a Black-Scholes valuation model. The value of the warrants was recorded as a discount on the principal amount
of the debentures. The exercise price of these warrants is subject to adjustment in the event of stock dividends, mergers, certain distributions of
common stock or issuance of common stock at less than the exercise price of the warrants on the date of issuance and less than the fair value of
common stock at date of issuance, based on a mathematical calculation. We have sold stock to institutional investors at prices below the $1.4796
exercise price of these warrants and below the fair value of our common stock at that date, thus the exercise price on the warrants has been
reduced to $0.97, and can continue to decrease.

     Under the securities purchase agreement, Elliott also has the option to purchase an additional 1,363,636 shares at a Purchase Price of $1.10
per share from May 11, 2002 through November 11, 2003, which may be exercised on a cashless basis. The relative fair value of this option was
calculated to be $505,000 using a Black-Scholes valuation model. The value of the option was recorded as a discount on the principal amount of
the debentures. The Purchase Price per share is subject to adjustment in the event of stock dividends, mergers, certain distributions of common
stock or issuance of common stock at less than the Purchase Price of the option on the date of issuance and less than the fair value of common
stock at date of issuance, based on a mathematical calculation. We have sold stock to institutional investors at prices below the $1.10 Purchase
Price and below the fair value of our common stock at that date, thus the Purchase Price has been reduced to $0.75, and can continue to decrease.
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VIRAGEN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(CONTINUED)

NOTE G � CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES � (Continued)

     As a result of the warrants, option to purchase additional shares and the effective conversion price of the debentures, a beneficial conversion
rate was calculated, which resulted in additional discount on the debentures of approximately $1.34 million. The total discount on the debentures
at the date of issuance was approximately $2.08 million and is composed of the value attributed to the warrants, the additional purchase option
and the beneficial conversion feature on the convertible debentures. The discount was amortized to interest expense using the effective interest
rate method over the term of the debentures. In addition, deferred finance costs of $176,000, were amortized to interest expense over the term of
the debentures using the effective interest rate method. We recorded interest expense for the six months ended December 31, 2002 of
approximately $1,036,000 on these convertible debentures.

     On April 1, 2002, we issued 388,007 shares of our common stock as payment of the first monthly principal installment on the debentures plus
interest accrued to date. The number of shares was based on a conversion price of approximately $0.80, which represented ninety percent of the
average of the ten lowest volume weighted average prices of our common stock during the twenty trading days immediately preceding the
conversion date. Subsequent to the April 1, 2002 installment, we made six cash payments totaling approximately $1.5 million, which represented
the May through October monthly principal installments, plus interest accrued including a five percent premium. In November and December
2002, we issued 1,478,264 and 1,829,600 shares of our common stock representing payment of the November and December installments due
on the convertible debentures, respectively. These debentures have been paid in full and no further amounts are due on these debentures.

NOTE H � CAPITAL STOCK

     On January 31, 2003, our stockholders approved an amendment to our Articles of Incorporation increase the number of authorized shares of
our common stock from 150 million to 250 million.

     During the six months ended December 31, 2002, we sold 10,609,776 shares of our common stock to institutional investors at prices ranging
from $0.15 to $0.66 for an aggregate amount of approximately $2.7 million, net of finders fees and related expenses. In connection with these
transactions, we also issued 274,429 stock purchase warrants with exercise prices ranging from $0.1725 to $0.76. The exercise prices on these
warrants are subject to adjustment downward depending upon future equity transactions.
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VIRAGEN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(CONTINUED)

NOTE I � COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

     Comprehensive loss is comprised of the Company�s net loss and other comprehensive income (loss). Other comprehensive income
(loss) refers to revenue, expenses, gains and losses that under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States are included in
comprehensive loss but are excluded from net loss as these amounts are recorded directly as an adjustment to stockholders� equity. Our other
comprehensive income (loss) is composed of foreign currency translation adjustments. The following table sets forth the computation of
comprehensive loss for the periods indicated:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
December 31, December 31,

2002 2001 2002 2001

Net loss $(4,132,634) $(3,082,602) $(7,147,318) $(5,601,402)
Other comprehensive
income (loss):
Currency translation
adjustment 769,550 (77,745) 721,592 32,565

Total comprehensive loss $(3,363,084) $(3,160,347) $(6,425,726) $(5,568,837)

NOTE J � RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

     Effective July 1, 2002 the Company adopted FASB issued SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.
SFAS No. 144 supercedes SFAS No. 121, Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of.
SFAS No. 144 applies to all long-lived assets (including discontinued operations) and consequently amends APB Opinion No. 30, Reporting the
Results of Operations, Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring
Events and Transactions. SFAS No. 144 develops one accounting model for long-lived assets that are to be disposed of by sale. SFAS No. 144
requires that long-lived assets that are to be disposed of by sale be measured at the lower of book value or fair value less cost to sell.
Additionally, SFAS No. 144 expands the scope of discontinued operations to include all components of an entity with operations that (1) can be
distinguished from the rest of the entity and (2) will be eliminated from the ongoing operations of the entity in a disposal transaction. The
adoption of SFAS No. 144 did not have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
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VIRAGEN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(CONTINUED)

NOTE J � RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS � (Continued)

     In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, Rescission of FASB Statements Nos. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13,
and Technical Corrections. SFAS No. 145 eliminates SFAS No. 4, Reporting Gains and Losses from Extinguishment of Debt, (and SFAS
No. 64, Extinguishments of Debt Made to Satisfy Sinking-Fund Requirements, as it amends SFAS No. 4), which requires gains and losses from
extinguishments of debt to be aggregated and, if material, classified as an extraordinary item, net of the related income tax effect. As a result, the
criteria in Accounting Principles Board (�APB�) Opinion No. 30 will now be used to classify those gains and losses. SFAS No. 145 amends SFAS
No. 13, Accounting for Leases, to require that certain lease modifications that have economic effects similar to sale-leaseback transactions are
accounted for in the same manner as sale-leaseback transactions. This amendment is consistent with the FASB�s goal of requiring similar
accounting treatment for transactions that have similar economic effects. In addition, SFAS No. 145 makes technical corrections to existing
pronouncements. While those corrections are not substantive in nature, in some instances, they may change accounting practice. The adoption of
SFAS No. 145 did not have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

     In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, Accounting for Exit or Disposal Activities, effective for exit or disposal activities that are
initiated after December 31, 2002, with early adoption encouraged. SFAS No. 146 addresses significant issues regarding the recognition,
measurement, and reporting of costs that are associated with exit and disposal activities, including restructuring activities that are currently
accounted for pursuant to the guidance that the Emerging Issues Task Force (�EITF�) has set forth in EITF Issue No. 94-3, Liability Recognition
for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs incurred in a Restructuring). A
fundamental conclusion reached by the Board in this Statement is that an entity�s commitment to a plan, by itself, does not create a present
obligation to others that meets the definition of a liability. Therefore, this SFAS eliminates the definition and requirements for recognition of exit
costs in EITF Issue No. 94-3. This statement also establishes that fair value is the objective for initial measurement of the liability. The scope of
SFAS No. 146 also includes (1) costs related to terminating a contract that is not a capital lease and (2) termination benefits that employees who
are involuntarily terminated receive under the terms of a one-time benefit arrangement or an individual deferred-compensation contract. We do
not expect the implementation of this standard to have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

     In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation�Transition and Disclosure, amending SFAS
No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. SFAS 148 provides two additional alternative transition methods for recognizing an entity�s
voluntary decision to change its method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation to the fair-value method. In addition, SFAS 148
amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS 123 so that entities will have to (1) make more-prominent disclosures regarding the pro forma
effects of using the fair-value method of accounting for stock-based compensation, (2) present those disclosures in a more accessible format in
the footnotes to the annual financial statements, and (3) include those disclosures in interim financial statements. SFAS 148�s transition guidance
and provisions for annual disclosures are effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2002; earlier application is permitted. The
provisions for interim-period disclosures are effective for financial reports that contain financial statements for interim periods beginning after
December 15, 2002. We have not changed our method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation to the fair-value method from the
intrinsic value method of
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VIRAGEN, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(CONTINUED)

NOTE J � RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS � (Continued)

Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. Therefore, we are not impacted by the transition
provisions of SFAS No. 148. We will be required to provide the interim-period disclosures beginning with our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2003.

NOTE K � TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

     In February 2002, the Company filed suit against a former director to collect a promissory note and related accrued interest then in default
(Viragen, Inc. vs. William B. Saeger- Circuit Court of the 11th Judicial Circuit, Miami-Dade County, Case No: 02-03618-CA-08). The principle
and related interest due had been fully reserved in the Company�s financial records in fiscal year 1998. In February 2002, subsequent to the date
we filed suit, Mr. Saeger filed a Petition for Bankruptcy in the United States Bankruptcy Court of the Southern District of Florida (Case No:
02-11757 BKC RAM) at which time the Company�s suit was stayed pending adjudication of the bankruptcy proceedings.

     In October 2002, Mr. Saeger withdrew his petition for bankruptcy which was granted. Following this action in October 2002, the Company
filed its motion for Summary Final Judgment claiming damages of $100,000 in principal, $46,750 in related accrued interest plus attorneys� fees
and costs and expenses of collection. Based on sworn documentation submitted to the court by Mr. Saeger in connection with his bankruptcy
fillings, it appears that his obligations significantly exceeded his assets. Accordingly, while there can be no assurance, the Company anticipates
it will prevail in this litigation although the amounts to be recovered, if any, can not be assured.

     During October 2000, Dennis W. Healey exercised 100,000 options to purchase common stock through the issuance of a $50,000 recourse
promissory note payable to Viragen secured by the underlying common stock purchased. In October 2002, Mr. Healey paid the principal and
related interest on his note. The related escrowed shares were released upon payment. In January 2003, Mr. Gerald Smith paid his remaining
$50,000 recourse promissory note payable to Viragen, plus accrued interest. This note related to his September 1, 1998 common stock option
exercise. Following this payment by Mr. Smith, there are no outstanding notes receivable from any currently serving officers or directors.

NOTE L � SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

     On January 31, 2003, Viragen entered into a securities purchase agreement (Agreement) with Palisades Equity Fund LP, Crescent
International Ltd., Alpha Capital AG, Brivis Investment Ltd. and Castlerigg Master Investments Ltd. (the Purchasers) for financing in the
aggregate amount of approximately $2.1 million. Under the terms of the Agreement, Viragen received approximately $1.7 million net of
discounts, a 6.5% finder�s fee and legal expenses.

     These convertible debentures have a two-year term and do not accrue interest during the first year but accrue interest at the rate of 6% per
annum payable semi-annually during the second year. The debentures are convertible immediately into shares of Viragen common stock at a
conversion price equal to $0.085.

     The Agreement also provided for the issuance to the Purchasers of an aggregate of 4,902,100 shares of Viragen common stock and a total of
8,734,200 common stock purchase warrants exercisable at a price of $0.0625.
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Item 2. Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Introduction

     We are a biotechnology company engaged in the business of researching, developing and manufacturing innovative technologies for the
treatment of life-threatening illnesses. We are also in the business of developing innovative technologies aimed at improving the manufacturing
processes used to manufacture certain medical therapies. Specifically, we are primarily focused on three fields of research and development:

� human leukocyte derived interferon � natural alpha interferon derived from human white blood cells for the treatment of a wide range
of viral and malignant diseases.

� avian transgenics technologies designed to produce protein-based drugs inside the egg whites of transgenic developed chickens.

� oncological therapies � therapeutic proteins for the treatment of targeted cancers.
Cautionary Factors That May Affect Future Results

     We have experienced losses and a negative cash flow from operations since inception. For the fiscal years ended June 30, 2002, 2001 and
2000 we incurred losses of approximately $11,089,000, $11,008,000 and $12,311,000, respectively. At December 31, 2002 we had an
accumulated deficit of approximately $92,088,000 and a working capital deficit of approximately $2,258,000.

     For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2002, the report of our independent auditors contains an explanatory paragraph indicating substantial doubt
as to our ability to continue as a going concern, due to our financial condition. Our financial condition has not improved subsequent to our fiscal
year end. If we are unable to raise sufficient equity or debt financing, it would be necessary for us to significantly curtail or suspend a portion or
all of our operations. Further, sufficient funding may not be available to finance current or future scientific collaborations, planned marketing
efforts or planned plant facility expansions or modifications.

     This document and other documents we may file with the Securities and Exchange Commission contain forward-looking statements. Also,
our company management may make forward-looking statements orally to investors, analysts the media and others.

     Forward-looking statements express our expectations or predictions of future events or results. They are not guarantees and are subject to
many risks and uncertainties. There are a number of factors�many beyond our control�that could cause actual events or results to be significantly
different from those described in the forward-looking statement. Any or all of our forward-looking statements in this report or in any other
public statements we make may turn out to be wrong.

     Forward-looking statements might include one or more of the following:

� anticipated debt or equity fundings;

� projections of future revenue;

� anticipated clinical trial commencement dates, completion timelines or results;

� descriptions of plans or objectives of management for future operations, products or services;

� forecasts of future economic performance; and

� descriptions or assumptions underlying or relating to any of the above items.
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     Forward-looking statements can be identified by the fact that they do not relate strictly to historical or current facts. They use words such as
�anticipate�, �estimate�, �expect�, �project�, �intend�, �plan�, �believe� or words of similar meaning. They may also use words such as �will�, �would�, �should�,
�could� or �may�.

     Factors that may cause actual results to differ materially include the risks discussed below, as well as in the �Risk Factors� section included in
our Prospectus (File No. 333-101480) filed December 5, 2002 with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b)(3) of the
Securities Act of 1933. We are incorporating these �Risk Factors� by reference. You should read them. You should also read the risk factors listed
from time to time in our reports on Form 10-Q, S-1, S-3 or 10-K and amendments, if any, to these reports. Viragen will provide you with any
copy of any or all of these reports at no charge.

     Among the uncertainties that may cause our results to differ materially from our projections are:

� whether we are able to secure sufficient funding to maintain our operations, complete clinical trials and successfully market our
product;

� whether the efficacy, price and timing of our natural human alpha interferon will enable us to compete with other well established,
highly capitalized, biopharmaceutical companies;

� whether our patent applications result in the issuance of patents, or whether patents and other intellectual property rights provide
adequate protections in the event of misappropriation or infringement by third parties;

� whether clinical testing confirms the efficacy of our product, and results in the receipt of regulatory approvals. We have not sought
the approval of our natural human alpha interferon product from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration or its European Union
counterparts, except Sweden;

� whether, despite receipt of regulatory approvals, our products are accepted as a treatment superior to that of our competitors;

� whether our stock price will enable us to conduct future financings without substantial dilution to our existing stockholders; and

� whether we can generate revenue sufficient to offset our historical losses and achieve profitability.
     Our natural human alpha interferon product was developed and is being manufactured overseas in our Swedish facility. Our dependence on
foreign manufacturing and expected international sales exposes us to a number of risks, including:

� Unexpected changes in regulatory requirements;

� Tariffs and other trade barriers, including import and export restrictions;

� Political or economic instability;

� Compliance with foreign laws;

� Transportation delays and interruptions;

� Difficulties in protecting intellectual property rights in foreign countries; and

� Currency exchange risks.
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Recent Developments

     Per our agreement with Harvester Trading Co., our exclusive distributor for Multiferon in Taiwan, Harvester is responsible for obtaining all
regulatory approvals for the sale of Multiferon in that country. In connection with the regulatory approval process, Harvester is required, at its
expense, to initiate a local bridging clinical trial of Multiferon which, if successful, will be used to support licensure. It was anticipated that this
clinical trial would commence by calendar year end 2002. To date, the trial has not yet commenced as the Taiwanese Department of Health is
continuing to review relevant documentation required as part of the registration process in Taiwan. The trial is planned to be conducted
according to our standard protocol with 50 patients suffering from Hepatitis C who have failed previous recombinant interferon therapies.

     In January 2003, a pre-license sales program was initiated in Taiwan through Harvester. The program provides for the treatment of patients
suffering from Hepatitis C with Multiferon on a named patient basis. To date, no revenues have been recognized under this program.

     In January 2003, we renewed and extended our agreement with Laboratorios Pisa, a leading Mexican pharmaceutical company. The new
agreement, extended by ten years, provides Laboratorios Pisa with the exclusive rights to distribute Multiferon in Mexico.

     In January 2003, we announced that Carl N. Singer, a directory of the company, would succeed Gerald Smith as Chairman of the Board of
Directors and Robert C. Salisbury, a director of the Company, would succeed Gerald Smith as President and CEO. Gerald Smith will continue to
serve as a member of the Board of Directors. In addition, Bryan King was elected to the Board of Directors at our 2002 annual stockholder�s
meeting.

     In January 2003, Viragen International, our majority owned subsidiary, announced that Carl N. Singer, a director of the Company, would
succeed Gerald Smith as Chairman of the Board of Directors, President and CEO. Gerald Smith will continue to serve as a member of the Board
of Directors.

     In November 2003, we entered into an agreement with Genesis Technology Group, Inc., a Sino-American business development firm, to
identify potential distributors in order to introduce our natural human alpha interferon drug, Multiferon, into the Chinese market. The Company
engaged, Genesis, is the first U.S. Trust Member of the Shanghai Technology Stock Exchange (STSE).

     In October 2002, we entered into an exclusive distribution agreement with CJ Pharma, a Global Pharmaceutical Division of Cheil Jedang
headquartered in South Korea, to distribute Multiferon in designated Latin American countries. The agreement provides that CJ Pharma shall
take all measures necessary to obtain and maintain the appropriate regulatory approvals for Multiferon in specified Latin American territories.
These exclusive territories include: Brazil, Chile, Uruguay, Peru, Costa Rica, Honduras, Nicaragua, Guatemala and Panama. CJ Pharma is
responsible for all costs associated with the regulatory approval process, including clinical trials if required, in each of the respective countries.
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Critical Accounting Policies

     Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our financial statements, which have been
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. On an on-going
basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to inventories, depreciation, amortization, asset valuation allowances, contingencies and
litigation. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. We believe that the
following critical accounting policies affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our financial statements.

� Consolidation. Our consolidated financial statements include the results of Viragen Inc. and all of its subsidiaries, including those
operating outside the United States. All significant transactions among our businesses have been eliminated. Assets and liabilities are
translated into U.S. dollars using foreign exchange rates as of the balance sheet date. We translate the revenue and expenses of our
foreign subsidiaries using average semi-monthly foreign exchange rates. Translation adjustments are included in the balance sheet
under accumulated other comprehensive loss, a separate component of stockholders� equity.

� Inventories. Inventories consist of raw materials and supplies, work in process and finished products. Finished products consist of
purified natural human alpha interferon derived from human white blood cells. Our inventories are stated at the lower of cost or
market (estimated net realizable value). Raw materials and supplies cost is determined on a first-in, first-out basis. Work in process
and finished goods costs consisting of materials, labor and overhead are recorded at a standard cost (which approximates actual cost).
If the cost of the inventories exceeds their expected market value, provisions are recorded currently for the difference between the
cost and the market value. These provisions are determined based on estimates.

� Long-lived assets. In accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, we review
our long-lived assets, including intangible assets, for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of these assets may not be fully recoverable. The assessment of possible impairment is based on our ability to
recover the carrying value of our asset based on our estimate of its undiscounted future cash flows. If these estimated future cash
flows are less than the carrying value of the asset, an impairment charge is recognized for the difference between the asset�s estimated
fair value and its carrying value. As of the date of these financial statements, we are not aware of any items or events that would
cause us to adjust the recorded value of our long-lived assets, including intangible assets, for impairment.
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� Goodwill. In accordance with SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, goodwill is not amortized. Goodwill will be
reviewed for impairment on an annual basis or sooner if indicators of impairment arise. All of our goodwill arose from the
acquisition of ViraNative in September 2001 and the subsequent achievement of certain milestones defined in the acquisition
agreement. We periodically evaluate that acquired business for potential impairment indicators. Our judgments regarding the
existence of impairment indicators are based on legal factors, market conditions, and operational performance of our acquired
business. Future events could cause us to conclude that impairment indicators exist and that goodwill and other intangibles
associated with our acquired business is impaired. We have approximately $8.9 million (or 45% of total assets) of goodwill recorded
on our balance sheet as of December 31, 2002. Any resulting impairment loss could have a material adverse impact on our financial
condition and results of operations. As of the date of these financial statements, we are not aware of any items or events that would
cause us to adjust the recorded value of our goodwill for impairment.

� Stock-based compensation. Our employee stock option plans are accounted for under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25
(�APB 25�), Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. We grant stock options for a fixed number of shares to employees with an
exercise price equal to the fair market value of the shares at the date of grant. In accordance with APB 25, we recognize no
compensation expense for these stock option grants. We account for our stock-based compensation arrangements with
non-employees in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (�SFAS�) No. 123, �Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation� and related guidance, including Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) No. 96-18, Accounting for Equity Instruments
That Are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services. Accordingly, we
recognize as expense the estimated fair value of such instruments as calculated using the Black-Scholes valuation model. The
estimated fair value is re-determined each quarter using the methodologies allowable by SFAS No. 123 and EITF No. 96-18 and the
expense is amortized over the vesting period of each option or the recipient�s contractual arrangement, if shorter.

� Revenue recognition. We recognize revenue from product sales when title and risk of loss has been transferred, which is generally
upon shipment. Moreover, recognition requires persuasive evidence that an arrangement exists, the price is fixed and determinable,
and collectibility is reasonably assured.

� Research and development costs. Research and development costs include scientific salaries and support fees, laboratory supplies,
collaborative agreement fees, consulting fees, research related travel, equipment rentals, utilities and repairs and maintenance. All
such costs are charged to research and development expense as incurred.

� Litigation and other contingencies. We monitor the status of our litigation and other contingencies for purposes of loss accrual. If we
believed a loss to be probable and reasonably estimated, as required by SFAS No. 5, �Accounting for Contingencies�, we would
establish an appropriate accrual. We would base our accruals on information available at the time of such determination. Information
may become available to us after that time, for which additional accruals may be required.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

     We believe that our cash and cash equivalents and working capital are not sufficient to meet our operating requirements through the end of
fiscal 2003. Our operating losses and working capital requirements continue to adversely affect cash flow. We intend to continue financing our
operations for the foreseeable future from additional private investment placements and debt financings. In the event of our inability to raise
capital, or a lack of expanded revenue from the sale of our natural human interferon product, we will likely be unable to meet our operating
requirements through the end of fiscal 2003. In this event we would be required to significantly curtail or suspend a portion or all of our
operations.

     As of December 31, 2002, we had on-hand approximately $32,000 in cash. As of December 31, 2002, we had a working capital deficit of
approximately $2,258,000 compared to a working capital deficit of approximately $389,000 as of June 30, 2002. The decrease in working
capital of approximately $1,869,000 compared to the previous fiscal year end balance was due primarily to the use of cash to fund operating
activities totaling approximately $4,089,000, capital expenditures totaling approximately $329,000 and the repayment of convertible debentures
and short term borrowings of approximately $1,464,000. These amounts were partially offset by approximately $5,044,000 raised through
private equity placements, issuance of convertible debentures and short term borrowings.

     During the six months ended December 31, 2002, we sold 10,609,776 shares of our common stock to institutional investors at prices ranging
from $0.15 to $0.66 for an aggregate amount of approximately $2.7 million, net of finders fees and related expenses. In connection with these
transactions, we also issued 274,429 stock purchase warrants with exercise prices ranging $0.1725 to $0.76. The exercise price of the stock
purchase warrants issued is subject to adjustment downward depending upon the price of subsequent equity transactions.

     On April 1, 2002, we issued 388,007 shares of our common stock as payment of the first monthly principal installment plus interest accrued
to date on the debentures with Elliott International, L.P. and Elliott Associates, L.P. The number of shares was based on a conversion price of
approximately $0.80, which represented ninety percent of the average of the ten lowest volume weighted average prices of our common stock
during the twenty trading days immediately preceding the conversion date. Subsequent to the April 1, 2002 installment, we made six cash
payments totaling approximately $1.5 million, which represented the May through October monthly principal installments, plus interest accrued
including a five percent premium. In November and December 2002, we issued 1,478,264 and 1,829,600 shares of our common stock
representing payment of the November and December installments due on the convertible debentures, respectively. These debentures have been
paid in full and no further amounts are due on these debentures.

     During August 2002, Viragen executed a $500,000, 90 day note with Isosceles Fund Limited. The note bears interest at 8% and is secured by
2.5 million shares of Viragen common stock. In connection with this transaction, we issued 53,868 Viragen common stock purchase warrants
exercisable at $0.53 per share for a period of three years. In November 2002, the note was amended to eliminate the fixed maturity date and
make the note payable within three business days following demand. The note was also amended to provide for conversion of outstanding
principal and interest into shares of Viragen common stock at a price of $0.175 per share in lieu of cash at Isosceles� option. This conversion
price has subsequently been reduced to $0.0625. If Isosceles does not elect to convert the note within 90 days of the amendment, the amendment
provides for the issuance of 116,500 warrants at $0.25 per share, 116,500 warrants at $0.30 per share, 116,500 warrants at $0.35 per share,
406,250 warrants at $0.50 per share and 375,000 warrants at $0.60 per share. The warrants would be exercisable for a three year period. As a
result of the January 31, 2003 securities purchase agreement described below, the exercise price of these warrants would be reduced to $0.0625.
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     On November 8, 2002, Viragen entered into a securities purchase agreement (Agreement) with Palisades Equity Fund, Bristol Investment
Fund and Alpha Capital AG (the Purchasers) for financing in the aggregate amount of $1,950,000. Under the terms of the Agreement, Viragen
received $896,000, net of a 6.5% finder�s fee and legal expenses on November 15, 2002, representing the first half of the financing. Subsequent
to Company�s related registration statement being declared effective by the SEC, Viragen received an additional $911,600, net of a 6.5% finder�s
fee and miscellaneous expenses on December 13, 2002, representing the remaining half of the financing.

     The convertible debentures accrue interest at the rate of 5% per annum payable semi-annually and have a two-year term. The debentures are
convertible immediately into shares of Viragen common stock. The conversion price was initially equal to $0.175 (the Set Price). However, if
after the earlier of the related registration statement going effective, the closing bid price for any 20 consecutive trading day period is less than
137.5% of the Set Price, the Set Price shall be reduced to thereafter equal 70% of the average of the closing bid price for the 5 days preceding
conversion. The Set Price was subject to a floor of $0.125. However, subsequent to the issuance of these debentures, Viragen entered into a
securities purchase agreement for additional financing in the form of convertible debentures. At this time, $300,000 of the remaining principal
on the debentures issued in November and December became convertible into shares of Viragen common stock at a conversion price equal to
$0.085 and $675,000 of the remaining principal on the debentures issued in November and December became convertible into shares of Viragen
common stock at a conversion price equal to $0.0625.

     The Agreement also provided for the issuance of 604,500 common stock purchase warrants exercisable at a price of $0.20 per share, 744,500
common stock purchase warrants exercisable at a price of $0.25 per share, 604,500 common stock purchase warrants exercisable at a price of
$0.30 per share, 1,625,000 common stock purchase warrants exercisable at a price of $0.40 per share and 1,300,000 common stock purchase
warrants exercisable at a price of $0.60 per share. These warrants are exercisable during the three year period terminating November 14, 2005
and can be exercised on a cashless basis whereby the holder may surrender a number of warrants equal to the exercise price of the warrants
being exercised. The relative fair value of the warrants was calculated to be $326,260 using a Black-Scholes valuation model. The fair value of
the warrants was recorded as a discount on the principal amount of the debentures and will be amortized to interest expense using the effective
interest rate method over the term of the debentures. Through December 31, 2002, the Company recognized approximately $135,000 of interest
expense from the amortization of the discount that arose from the warrants. Subsequent to the issuance of these warrants, and as a result of a
securities purchase agreement entered into after December 31, 2002 discussed below, the exercise price of these warrants was reduced to
$0.0625.

     On January 31, 2003, Viragen entered into a securities purchase agreement with Palisades Equity Fund LP, Crescent International Ltd., Alpha
Capital AG, Brivis Investment Ltd. and Castlerigg Master Investments Ltd. (the Purchasers) for financing in the aggregate amount of
approximately $2.1 million. Under the terms of this agreement, Viragen received approximately $1.7 million net of discounts, a 6.5% finder�s fee
and legal expenses. The convertible debentures have a two-year term and do not accrue interest during the first year but accrue interest at the rate
of 6% per annum payable semi-annually during the second year. The debentures are convertible immediately into shares of Viragen common
stock at a conversion price equal to $0.085. This agreement also provided for the issuance to the Purchasers of an aggregate of 4,902,100 shares
of Viragen common stock and a total of 8,734,200 common stock purchase warrants exercisable at a price of $0.0625.
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     Our future capital requirements are dependent upon many factors, including: revenue generated from the sale of our natural human interferon
product, progress with future and ongoing clinical trials; the costs associated with obtaining regulatory approvals; the costs involved in patent
applications; competing technologies and market developments; and our ability to establish collaborative arrangements and effective
commercialization activities.

     We intend to expand our productive capacity of our natural human alpha interferon product in Sweden through the renovation of a 21,500
square foot facility purchased by ViraNative prior to our acquisition. ViraNative has commenced the initial expansion phase with an estimated
total cost of $1.1 million which is scheduled to be completed by March 2003. The initial expansion phase has been mandated by Swedish
regulatory authorities. Without this expansion we would be required to suspend production until such time as the modifications are complete.
Completion of the initial phase is dependent upon the receipt of additional funding. Based on product demand and available financing, the new
facility could be further expanded and equipped. Such an expansion, if warranted, could cost up to an additional $7 million. As with the initial
phase of expansion, completion is dependent upon receipt of additional funding for which there can be no assurance.

     We believe that our natural human alpha interferon product can be manufactured in sufficient quantity and be priced at a level to offer
patients an attractive alternative treatment to the synthetic interferons currently being marketed. Required regulatory approvals are subject to the
successful completion of lengthy and costly clinical trials. The successful completion of any clinical trial project also depends on our ability to
raise significant additional investment capital.

     We estimate that we will require additional funding of approximately $25 million, over the next two years. These funds would be used to
fund operations including clinical trials. We will also use planned future funding for continued product development, general working capital
purposes, including administrative support functions, and possible equity investments in businesses complementary to our operations.
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Results of Operations

Product sales and cost of sales

     As a result of our acquisition of ViraNative in September 2001, we began recognizing revenue through the sale of our natural human alpha
interferon product. Since the date of the acquisition, a significant portion of our product sales and related costs were for the sale of bulk product
(semi-purified) to a customer in Italy under a contractual arrangement, which expired in December 2002. We believe the profit margin reflected
on sales of our bulk product is not necessarily indicative of the margins we anticipate on the sale of our purified natural human alpha interferon
product. We expect the margins on our purified product to be higher as the anticipated increase in selling price will exceed the incremental costs
of the additional processing. We expect our product mix to shift significantly from the sale of bulk product to purified product for the remainder
of our fiscal year ended June 30, 2003.

     For the three months ended December 31, 2002, product sales totaled approximately $127,000. The decrease of $335,000 compared to
product sales of approximately $462,000 for the quarter ended December 31, 2001, is attributed to the absence of sales of bulk product to Alfa
Wasserman under a contractual arrangement which expired in December 2002.

Research and Development Costs

     Research and development costs are comprised of scientific salaries and support fees, laboratory supplies, collaborative agreement fees,
consulting fees, equipment rentals, repairs and maintenance, utilities and research related travel. Research and development costs for the three
months ended December 31, 2002 totaled approximately $855,000, a decrease of approximately $492,000 when compared to the same quarter of
the preceding year. This decrease was primarily attributed to cost reductions in our Scottish facility related to the termination of our development
efforts on our Omniferon product of approximately $517,000. These reductions in research and development costs were partially offset by
increases in consulting fees and compensation on stock purchase warrants granted at our Florida headquarters totaling approximately $72,000
and $56,000, respectively.

     Research and development costs for the six months ended December 31, 2002 totaled approximately $1,687,000, a decrease of approximately
$1,152,000 when compared to the six months ended December 31, 2001. This decrease was primarily attributed to cost reductions in our
Scottish facility related to the termination of our development efforts on our Omniferon product of approximately $869,000. Also contributing to
this decrease was a decrease in consulting fees at our Florida headquarters totaling approximately $295,000. These reductions in research and
development costs were partially offset by additional costs incurred by our Swedish subsidiary acquired in September 2001 totaling
approximately $96,000. Prior year�s results of operations for the six months ended December 31, 2001 included our Swedish subsidiary�s results
for October through December 2001 since it was acquired on September 28, 2001.

     We will continue incurring research and development costs for additional clinical trial projects associated with Multiferon as well as other
projects to more fully develop potential commercial applications of our natural interferon product, as well as broaden our potential product lines
in the areas of avian transgenics and oncology. Our ability to successfully conclude additional clinical trials, a prerequisite for expanded
commercialization of any product, is dependent upon our ability to raise significant additional investment capital.
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Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

     Selling, general and administrative expenses are comprised of administrative personnel salaries and related expenses, lease expenses, utilities,
repairs and maintenance, insurance, legal, accounting, consulting fees and depreciation. Selling, general and administrative expenses totaled
approximately $1,716,000 for the three months ended December 31, 2002 compared to approximately $1,972,000 in the same period of the
previous fiscal year. This decrease of approximately $256,000 is primarily attributed to a decrease in legal fees at our Florida headquarters
totaling approximately $405,000. This decrease was partially offset by increases in personnel salaries and insurance expense at our Florida
headquarters totaling approximately $124,000 and $43,000, respectively.

     Selling, general and administrative expenses totaled approximately $3,447,000 for the six months ended December 31, 2002 compared to
approximately $3,254,000 for the same period of the preceding year. This increase of $193,000 is mainly attributed to additional expenses
incurred by our Swedish subsidiary of approximately $229,000, which was acquired in September 2001. Prior year�s results of operations for the
six months ended December 31, 2001 included our Swedish subsidiary�s results for October through December 2001 since it was acquired on
September 28, 2001. Also contributing to the increase in selling, general and administrative expenses for the six months ended December 31,
2002 were increases in personnel salaries, consulting fees and insurance expense at our Florida headquarters totaling approximately $278,000,
$148,000 and $84,000, respectively. These increases were partially offset by a decrease in legal fees at our Florida headquarters totaling
approximately $621,000.

     We expect our overall selling, general and administrative expenses to increase in the foreseeable future as a result of the increase in the
number of administrative employees and related expenses associated with the expansion of our Swedish operations as well as additional
management time spent on the commercialization of Multiferon. Our ability to successfully commercialize Multiferon will require additional
marketing and promotional activities and is dependent upon our ability to raise significant additional investment capital.

Amortization of Intangible Assets

     Amortization of intangible assets includes the amortization of the purchase price allocated to separately identifiable intangible assets obtained
in the acquisition of ViraNative in September 2001. The separately identified intangible assets acquired consist of developed technology and a
customer contract. The developed technology is being amortized over its estimated useful life of approximately 14 years. The customer contract
has been amortized over the term of the contract, which expired in December 2002. For the three and six months ended December 31, 2002,
amortization of intangible assets totaled approximately $58,000 and $115,000, respectively.

Interest and Other Income

     The primary components of interest and other income are interest earned on cash and cash equivalents, grant income from a government
agency in Scotland, sublease income on certain office space in our Scottish facility and gains or losses on foreign exchange. The decrease in
interest and other income of approximately $36,000 during the six months ended December 31, 2002 is attributed to the decrease in principal
invested between the periods and lower interest rates.
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Interest Expense

     The significant increase in interest expense totaling approximately $2,705,000 for the six months ended December 31, 2002, is primarily
attributable to approximately $2,423,000 of non-cash interest expense on the convertible debentures which were issued in January 2002,
November 2002 and December 2002. Non-cash interest expense for the six months ended December 31, 2002, includes interest accrued on the
debentures, amortization of deferred financing costs and amortization of the discount on the debentures resulting from the detachable warrants,
additional purchase option and the debentures� beneficial conversion feature.

Income Tax Benefit

     For the three and six months ended December 31, 2002, income tax benefit totaled approximately $19,000 and $39,000, respectively. These
amounts are due to amortization expense on certain intangible assets related to the ViraNative acquisition. Due to the treatment of the
identifiable intangible assets under Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, our balance sheet
reflects a deferred tax liability of approximately $566,000.

     Based on our accumulated losses, a full valuation allowance is provided to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount that will more likely than
not be realized. As of June 30, 2002, we had a net operating loss carry forward of approximately $44 million for U.S. federal income tax
purposes.

Research and Development Projects

     We have five ongoing research and development projects in the fields of Oncology and Avian Transgenics.

Oncology

     Our research and development projects in the field of oncology are focused on the development of therapeutic proteins for the treatment of
targeted cancers. Our oncological projects are defined as follow:

R24 Monoclonal Antibody

     In collaboration with Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center, we have initiated research on monoclonal antibodies targeting ganglioside
GD3 for the treatment of melanoma and possibly certain other cancers. Monoclonal antibodies are laboratory-produced, highly specialized
therapeutic proteins designed to locate and bind to targeted cancer cells.

     For the three and six months ended December 31, 2002, we incurred costs related to the R24 monoclonal antibody project totaling
approximately $156,000 and $370,000, respectively. Since the date of inception of this project, we have incurred approximately $1,310,000 in
research and development costs.

     This project has not reached clinical trials and we do not expect to enter into clinical trials earlier than calendar year 2005, if at all.

Notch-1 Monoclonal Antibody

     Under a worldwide exclusive license from the U.S. National Institute of Health, we are researching the clinical applications of a monoclonal
antibody that recognizes the Notch-1 protein. Binding of the antibody to the protein signals the immune response to activate lymphocytes,
modulating immunity. The antibody may also be useful in adjuvant therapies.

     For the three and six months ended December 31, 2002, we incurred costs related to the Notch-1 monoclonal antibody project totaling
approximately $2,000. Since the date of inception of this project, we have incurred approximately $1,085,000 in research and development
costs.

     This project has not reached clinical trials and we do not expect to enter into clinical trials earlier than the third calendar quarter of 2004, if at
all.

CD55 Therapy
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     In collaboration with Cancer Research UK, we are developing a monoclonal antibody designed to block the protective effect of the protein
CD55 on the surface of tumor cells. The protein CD55 is one of a number of proteins which protect normal healthy cells from being destroyed
by the complement system. The problem arises when cancer cells also express this control protein to camouflage themselves from the immune
system at levels up to 100 fold greater than normal. Under a worldwide exclusive commercial license granted to us, we are developing an
antibody to remove this protection from tumor cells. A successful therapy could also offer protection against cancer spreading. We believe this
technology may prove useful in the treatment of colorectal, breast, ovarian and certain bone cancers.

     For the three and six months ended December 31, 2002, we incurred costs related to the CD55 project totaling approximately $88,000 and
$189,000, respectively. Since the date of inception of this project, we have incurred approximately $744,000 in research and development costs.

     The CD55 vaccine project has not reached clinical trials and we do not expect to enter into clinical trials earlier than third calendar quarter of
2004, if at all.

IEP 11

     We entered into an agreement with the University of Miami�s Sylvester Comprehensive Cancer Center to develop anti-cancer technology. The
joint project is designed to develop a novel form of an immune enhancing drug that has shown promise by inhibiting tumor growth in rats for a
broad range of cancers. This drug is a novel 11 amino acid peptide called IEP 11, which was derived from a tumor transmembrane glycoprotein.
It possesses anti-cancer vaccine properties both prophylactically and therapeutically.

     For the three and six months ended December 31, 2002, we incurred costs related to the IEP 11 project totaling approximately $20,000 and
$45,000, respectively. Since the date of inception of this project, we have incurred approximately $45,000 in research and development costs.

     It is too early too determine if and when this project will make it to clinical trials.

     Estimated completion dates, completion costs, and future material net cash inflows, if any, for the above oncological projects are not
reasonably certain and are not determinable at this time. The timelines and associated costs for the completion of biopharmaceutical research and
product development programs are difficult to accurately predict for various reasons, including the inherent exploratory nature of the work. The
achievement of project milestones is dependent on issues which may impact development timelines and can be unpredictable and beyond
Viragen�s control. These issues include; availability of capital funding, presence of competing technologies, unexpected experimental results
which may cause the direction of research to change, accumulated knowledge about the intrinsic properties of the candidate product, the
availability of contract cell banking and manufacturing slots for the preparation of Good Manufacturing Practices grade material, results from
preclinical and clinical studies, potential changes in prescribing practice and patient profiles and regulatory requirements.

Avian Transgenics

     We have an ongoing avian transgenic research and development project in collaboration with Roslin Institute of Scotland. The technology
will be used to create chickens which produce eggs containing targeted new drugs in the egg white to treat many serious diseases, including
cancer. We believe this technology promises a much faster and cost effective method of production for many promising biopharmaceutical
products. Also, this technology is capable of producing the larger quantities of protein-based drugs required for clinical and commercial
applications.

     Viragen believes that the chicken will serve as the ideal protein production vehicle. Avian Transgenic Production, based upon transgenic
chickens, is expected to offer significant economic and technological advantages over traditional methods of protein production including: ease
of scale-up; low capital risk; deferred capital investment; fast drug evaluation and development; and competitive costs.

     The reduced capital outlay and cost effectiveness of therapeutic production is the greatest incentive for the use of transgenic hens in drug
production. Chickens have one of the lowest founder animal development costs of any transgenic system. The founder hen is naturally bred or
cloned to produce a transgenic flock. A large number of birds can be produced very quickly and cheaply compared to all other methods.
Chickens can lay up to 250 eggs per year with each egg conservatively projected to be capable of containing yields of up to 100 mg of the target
drug per egg. This speed and productivity, on a per egg basis, means that a relatively large amount of protein can be generated quickly.

     Other key advantages include the relative ease of scale-up, time to production and glycosylation (the sugar structure of a protein which is
critical to its function). It is believed that chickens yield a more similar glycosylation pattern to humans than other transgenic systems such as
with mammals or plants. This means that chicken proteins have similar sugars as humans. This is believed to offer distinct clinical advantages
for patients who develop neutralizing and binding antibodies to foreign sugar antigens on transgenic proteins which, in turn, may negate some or
all of the beneficial effect of the protein drug in the patient.
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     For the three and six months ended December 31, 2002, we incurred costs related to the avian transgenics project totaling approximately
$271,000 and $502,000, respectively. Since the date of inception of this project, we have incurred approximately $1,756,000 in research and
development costs.

     We estimate that we may be able to begin commercialization of our avian transgenics technology during calendar year 2004. Additional costs
to be incurred through commercialization are estimated at $1.5 million to $2.5 million. Future material net cash inflows, if any, are not
reasonably certain and are not determinable at this time. This is a new technology and there is no precedent to be used to estimate the size of the
potential market or the demand for this technology.

     The completion of all of the above research and development projects is dependent upon our ability to raise significant additional capital or
our ability to identify potential collaborative partners that would share in project costs. Our future capital requirements are dependent upon many
factors, including: revenue generated from the sale of our natural human interferon product, progress with future clinical trials; the costs
associated with obtaining regulatory approvals; the costs involved in patent applications; competing technologies and market developments; and
our ability to establish collaborative arrangements and effective commercialization activities.

     In the event of our inability to raise significant additional capital, or to collaborate with potential partners on our research and development
projects, or a lack of expanded revenue from the sale of our natural human interferon product, we will likely be unable to meet our operating
requirements through the end of fiscal 2003, including the funding of the above research and development projects. In this event we would be
required to significantly curtail or suspend a portion or all of our operations.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

     Effective July 1, 2002 the Company adopted FASB issued SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.
SFAS No. 144 supercedes SFAS No. 121, Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of.
SFAS No. 144 applies to all long-lived assets (including discontinued operations) and consequently amends APB Opinion No. 30, Reporting the
Results of Operations, Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring
Events and Transactions. SFAS No. 144 develops one accounting model for long-lived assets that are to be disposed of by sale. SFAS No. 144
requires that long-lived assets that are to be disposed of by sale be measured at the lower of book value or fair value less cost to sell.
Additionally, SFAS No. 144 expands the scope of discontinued operations to include all components of an entity with operations that (1) can be
distinguished from the rest of the entity and (2) will be eliminated from the ongoing operations of the entity in a disposal transaction. The
adoption of SFAS No. 144 did not have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

     In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, Rescission of FASB Statements Nos. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13,
and Technical Corrections. SFAS No. 145 eliminates SFAS No. 4, Reporting Gains and Losses from Extinguishment of Debt, (and SFAS
No. 64, Extinguishments of Debt Made to Satisfy Sinking-Fund Requirements, as it amends SFAS No. 4), which requires gains and losses from
extinguishments of debt to be aggregated and, if material, classified as an extraordinary item, net of the related income tax effect. As a result, the
criteria in Accounting Principles Board (�APB�) Opinion No. 30 will now be used to classify those gains and losses. SFAS No. 145 amends SFAS
No. 13, Accounting for Leases, to require that certain lease modifications that have economic effects similar to sale-leaseback transactions are
accounted for in the same manner as sale-leaseback transactions. This amendment is consistent with the FASB�s goal of requiring similar
accounting treatment for transactions that have similar economic effects. In addition, SFAS No. 145 makes technical corrections to existing
pronouncements. While those corrections are not substantive in nature, in some instances, they may change accounting practice. The adoption of
SFAS No. 145 did not have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

     In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, Accounting for Exit or Disposal Activities, effective for exit or disposal activities that are
initiated after December 31, 2002, with early adoption encouraged. SFAS No. 146 addresses significant issues regarding the recognition,
measurement, and reporting of costs that are associated with exit and disposal activities, including restructuring activities that are currently
accounted for pursuant to the guidance that the Emerging Issues Task Force (�EITF�) has set forth in EITF Issue No. 94-3, Liability Recognition
for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs incurred in a Restructuring). A
fundamental conclusion reached by the Board in this Statement is that an entity�s commitment to a plan, by itself, does not create a present
obligation to others that meets the definition of a liability. Therefore, this SFAS eliminates the definition and requirements for recognition of exit
costs in EITF Issue No. 94-3. This statement also establishes that fair value is the objective for initial measurement of the liability. The scope of
SFAS No. 146 also includes (1) costs related to terminating a contract that is not a capital lease and (2) termination benefits that employees who
are involuntarily terminated receive under the terms of a one-time benefit arrangement or an individual deferred-compensation contract. We do
not expect the implementation of this standard to have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
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     In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation�Transition and Disclosure, amending SFAS
No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. SFAS 148 provides two additional alternative transition methods for recognizing an entity�s
voluntary decision to change its method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation to the fair-value method. In addition, SFAS 148
amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS 123 so that entities will have to (1) make more-prominent disclosures regarding the pro forma
effects of using the fair-value method of accounting for stock-based compensation, (2) present those disclosures in a more accessible format in
the footnotes to the annual financial statements, and (3) include those disclosures in interim financial statements. SFAS 148�s transition guidance
and provisions for annual disclosures are effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2002; earlier application is permitted. The
provisions for interim-period disclosures are effective for financial reports that contain financial statements for interim periods beginning after
December 15, 2002. We have not changed our method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation to the fair-value method from the
intrinsic value method of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. Therefore, we are not
impacted by the transition provisions of SFAS No. 148. We will be required to provide the interim-period disclosures beginning with our
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2003.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

     Market risk generally represents the risk of loss that may result from the potential change in value of a financial instrument as a result of
fluctuations in interest rates and market prices. We have not traded or otherwise transacted in derivatives nor do we expect to do so in the future.
We have established policies and internal processes related to the management of market risks which we use in the normal course of our
business operations.

Interest Rate Risk

     The fair value of long-term debt is subject to interest rate risk. While changes in market interest rates may affect the fair value of our
fixed-rate long-term debt, we believe a change in interest rates would not have a material impact on our financial condition, future results of
operations or cash flows.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

     We conduct operations in several different countries. The balance sheet accounts of our operations in Scotland and Sweden are translated to
U.S. dollars for financial reporting purposes and resulting adjustments are made to stockholders� equity. The value of the respective local
currency may strengthen or weaken against the U.S. dollar, which would impact the value of stockholders� investment in our common stock.
Fluctuations in the value of the British Pound and Swedish Krona against the U.S. dollar have occurred during our history, which have resulted
in unrealized foreign currency translation gains and losses, which are included in accumulated other comprehensive loss and shown in the equity
section of our balance sheet.

     While most of the transactions of our U.S. and foreign operations are denominated in the respective local currency, some transactions are
denominated in other currencies. Since the accounting records of our foreign operations are kept in the respective local currency, any
transactions denominated in other currencies are accounted for in the respective local currency at the time of the transaction. Upon settlement of
such a transaction, any foreign currency gain or loss results in an adjustment to income.

     Our results of operations may be impacted by the fluctuating exchange rates of foreign currencies, especially the British Pound and Swedish
Krona, in relation to the U.S. dollar. Most of the revenue and expense items of our foreign subsidiaries are denominated in the respective local
currency. An unfavorable change in the exchange rate of the foreign currency against the U.S. dollar will result in lower revenue when translated
into U.S. dollars. Operating expenses would also be lower in these circumstances.

     During fiscal year 2003, the U.S. dollar has experienced adverse fluctuations against the British Pound and the Swedish Krona. Based on the
foreign currency exchange rates as of December 31, 2002 the U.S. dollar has lost approximately 4.7% and 5.0% of its value against the British
Pound and Swedish Krona, respectively, since June 30, 2002. The weakening of the U.S. dollar has resulted in greater operating expenses,
revenues, assets and liabilities of our foreign subsidiaries when translated to U.S. dollars.
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     We believe our foreign currency risk is not significant. We do not currently engage in hedging activities with respect to our foreign currency
exposure. However, we continually monitor our exposure to currency fluctuations. We have not incurred significant realized losses on exchange
transactions. If realized losses on foreign transactions were to become significant, we would evaluate appropriate strategies, including the
possible use of foreign exchange contracts, to reduce such losses.

     We were not adversely impacted by the European Union�s adoption of the �Euro� currency. Our foreign operations to date have been located in
Scotland and Sweden which did not participate in the adoption of the Euro.

Intangible Asset Risk

     We have a substantial amount of intangible assets. Although at December 31, 2002 we believe our intangible assets are recoverable, changes
in the economy, the business in which we operate and our own relative performance could change the assumptions used to evaluate intangible
asset recoverability. We continue to monitor those assumptions and their consequent effect on the estimated recoverability of our intangible
assets.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

     As of December 31, 2002, an evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including the
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures.
Based on that evaluation, our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, believes that our disclosure
controls and procedures are adequately designed to ensure that the information that we are required to disclose in this report has been
accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow
timely decisions regarding such required disclosure. There have been no significant changes in our internal controls or other factors that could
significantly affect internal controls subsequent to December 31, 2002.
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PART II � OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

     In February 2002, the Company filed suit against a former director to collect a promissory note and related accrued interest then in default
(Viragen, Inc. vs. William B. Saeger- Circuit Court of the 11th Judicial Circuit, Miami-Dade County, Case No: 02-03618-CA-08). The principle
and related interest due had been fully reserved in the Company�s financial records in fiscal year 1998. In February 2002 subsequent to the date
we filed suit,, Mr. Saeger filed a Petition for Bankruptcy in the United States Bankruptcy Court of the Southern District of Florida (Case No:
02-11757 BKC RAM) at which time the Company�s suit was stayed pending adjudication of the bankruptcy proceedings.

     In October 2002, Mr. Saeger withdrew his petition for bankruptcy which was granted. Following the action in October 2002, the Company
filed its motion for Summary Final Judgment claiming damages of $100,000 in principal, $46,750 in related accrued interest plus attorneys� fees
and costs and expenses of collection. Based on sworn documentation submitted to the court by Mr. Saeger in connection with his bankruptcy
fillings, it appears that his current obligations significantly exceeded his assets. Accordingly, while there can be no assurance, the Company
anticipates it will prevail in this litigation although the amounts to be recovered, if any, can not be assured.

     In January 2003, legal counsel for the Company was informally approached by an attorney representing a shareholder or shareholders
considering a possible action against the Company. To the best of our knowledge, the action, if filed, would allege that the Company�s
disclosures surrounding its October 2001 contract with Tradeway Incorporated were false and misleading. The Company believes that its
disclosures related to the now terminated Supply and Distribution Agreement, clearly reflected when disclosed the contracted relationship
between the parties and were not misleading. Further, while no litigation has commenced in this matter, the Company believes any such action
would be without merit and would also be vigorously defended.

     In October 1997, Viragen, the company�s president and Cytoferon Corp., a former affiliate of the president, were named as defendants in a
civil action brought in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida (Walter L. Smith v Cytoferon Corp. et al; Case No:
97-3187-CIV-MARCUS). The plaintiff is a former Viragen stockholder and investor in Cytoferon Corp. The suit alleged the defendants violated
federal and state securities laws, federal and state RICO statutes, fraud, conspiracy, breach of fiduciary duties and breach of contract. The
plaintiff was seeking an unspecified monetary judgment and the delivery of 441,368 shares of common stock. Viragen filed a motion to dismiss
denying the allegations and requesting reimbursement of its costs.

     In November 1997, the plaintiff filed a notice of voluntary dismissal with the federal court concurrently notifying Viragen of his intent to
refile a complaint in circuit court in the state of Florida. In December 1998, the U.S. District Court awarded us reimbursement of attorneys� fees
and expenses under Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act. We recovered $31,000
during fiscal 2000.
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     In November 1997, the plaintiff filed a complaint in the Circuit Court of the 11th Judicial Circuit for Miami-Dade County, Florida (Case No:
97-25587 CA30) naming the same defendants. The suit alleges breach of contract, fraud, violation of Florida�s RICO statute and breach of
fiduciary duties. It sought an unspecified monetary judgment and specific performance delivery of 441,368 shares of Viragen common stock.
The plaintiff claimed that he was entitled to additional shares of common stock under a consulting agreement. He also claimed that Viragen�s
president breached his fiduciary duty to Cytoferon by not achieving sufficient financing for Viragen, which would have entitled Cytoferon to
additional shares. He also claimed misrepresentations in connection with the previous Cytoferon financings.

     In March 1998, the Circuit Court granted Viragen�s motion to dismiss the complaint. Subsequently, the plaintiff filed an amended complaint
alleging breach of contract, fraud, violation of Florida�s RICO Act and breach of fiduciary duties and seeking an unspecified monetary judgment
and specific performance delivery of 441,368 shares of common stock. In April 1998, Viragen filed a motion to dismiss plaintiff�s amended
complaint which was denied by the court.

     In August 2000, counsel for plaintiff indicated that they intended to withdraw as counsel. In January 2001, the Circuit Court ruled in favor of
Viragen on all counts related to the Circuit Court Case (No.: 97-25587 CA30). No further claims against Viragen are pending in this matter.
Viragen has submitted to the Circuit Court a request for reimbursement of related litigation costs. In July 2002, the Circuit Court ruled in favor
of Mr. Smith and Cytoferon and all counts against these defendants were dismissed. We also intend to pursue recovery of related litigation costs
in these matters.

     No accrual for loss had been recorded in this matter.
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Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

     We held our annual stockholders� meeting in Davie, Florida on January 31, 2003. Shareholders voted:

1. To elect three directors to the board of directors, who were classified as class B directors, to serve for the term of their designated
class and until their successors have been elected and qualified; and

2. To ratify an amendment to our Certificate of Incorporation increasing the number of authorized shares of our common stock from
150 million to 250 million; and

3. To ratify the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP, as our independent auditors.
     With a majority (91%) of the outstanding shares voting either by proxy or in person, the stockholders approved the proposals with the
following votes:

Proposal 1. For Withhold

Election of directors:
Dennis W Healey 102,982,911 8,883,995
Douglas Lind 109,816,101 2,050,805
Brian King 109,789,859 2,077,047

Proposal 2. For Against Abstain

Ratify increasing the
number of authorized
shares of our common
stock from 150 million to
250 million 106,030,100 5,561,553 275,253

Proposal 3. For Against Abstain

Ratify Appointment of
Ernst & Young LLP as our
independent auditors 111,206,763 463,357 196,786
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Item 6. Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K

(a) Exhibits:
3.9 Certificate of Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation dated February 3, 2003

(Incorporated by reference to Viragen, Inc.�s Form 10-Q filed February 14, 2003.)
10.52 Supply and distribution agreement between Viragen International, Inc. and CJ Pharma dated

October 18, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Viragen International�s Form 10-Q filed
February 14, 2003)

10.53 Extension to distribution and supply agreement between Viragen International, Inc. and
Laboratorios Pisa dated January 9, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Viragen International�s
Form 10-Q filed February 14, 2003)

10.54 Securities Purchase Agreement dated November 8, 2002, between Viragen, Inc., Palisades
Equity Fund L.P., Bristol Investment Ltd. and Alpha Capital AG (incorporated by reference to
Viragen, Inc.�s Form S-3 filed on December 5, 2002)

10.55 Form of Convertible Debenture (incorporated by reference to Viragen, Inc.�s Form S-3 filed on
December 5, 2002)

10.56 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant (incorporated by reference to Viragen, Inc.�s
Form S-3 filed on December 5, 2002)

10.57 Registration Rights Agreement dated November 8, 2002, between Viragen, Inc., Palisades
Equity Fund, L.P., Bristol Investment Ltd. and Alpha Capital AG (incorporated by reference
to Viragen, Inc.�s Form S-3 filed on December 5, 2002)

10.58 Securities Purchase Agreement dated January 31, 2003, between Viragen, Inc., Palisades
Equity Fund L.P., Crescent International Ltd., Alpha Capital AG, Brivis Investment, Ltd. and
Castlerigg Master Investments Ltd. (Incorporated by reference to Viragen, Inc.�s Form 10-Q
filed February 14, 2003.)

10.59 Form of Secured Convertible Debenture for Securities Purchase Agreement dated January 31,
2003 (Incorporated by reference to Viragen, Inc.�s Form 10-Q filed February 14, 2003.)

10.60 Form of Stock Purchase Warrant for Securities Purchase Agreement dated January 31, 2003
(Incorporated by reference to Viragen, Inc.�s Form 10-Q filed February 14, 2003.)

10.61 Registration Rights Agreement dated January 31, 2003, between Viragen, Inc., Palisades
Equity Fund, L.P., Crescent International Ltd., Alpha Capital AG, Brivis Investment, Ltd. and
Castlerigg Master Investments Ltd. (Incorporated by reference to Viragen, Inc.�s Form 10-Q
filed February 14, 2003.)

99.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
99.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(b) Reports on Form 8-K:

Current Report on Form 8-K, filed January 30, 2003, listing items 5 and 7 as they relate to
Carl N. Singer succeeding Gerald Smith as Chairman of the Board of Directors, and Robert C.
Salisbury succeeding Gerald Smith as President and CEO.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Viragen, Inc.

By: /s/ Dennis W. Healey

Dennis W. Healey
Executive Vice President and
Principal Financial Officer

By: /s/ Nicholas M. Burke

Nicholas M. Burke
Controller and
Principal Accounting Officer

Date: March 19, 2003
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CERTIFICATIONS

I, Robert C. Salisbury, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this amended quarterly report on Form 10-Q/A of Viragen, Inc.

2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect
to the period covered by this quarterly report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this quarterly report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
quarterly report;

4. The registrant�s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this
quarterly report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant�s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing date
of this quarterly report (the �Evaluation Date�); and

c) presented in this quarterly report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on our
evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5.     The registrant�s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant�s auditors and the audit
committee of registrant�s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant�s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant�s auditors any material weaknesses in
internal controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant�s
internal controls;

6. The registrant�s other certifying officer and I have indicated in this quarterly report whether there were significant changes in internal
controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including
any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

Date: March 19, 2003 By: /s/ Robert C. Salisbury

Robert C. Salisbury
President and
Chief Executive Officer
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CERTIFICATIONS

I, Dennis W. Healey, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this amended quarterly report on Form 10-Q/A of Viragen, Inc.

2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect
to the period covered by this quarterly report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this quarterly report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
quarterly report;

4. The registrant�s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this
quarterly report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant�s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing date
of this quarterly report (the �Evaluation Date�); and

c) presented in this quarterly report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on our
evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5. The registrant�s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant�s auditors and the audit
committee of registrant�s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant�s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant�s auditors any material weaknesses in
internal controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant�s
internal controls;

6. The registrant�s other certifying officer and I have indicated in this quarterly report whether there were significant changes in internal
controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including
any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

Date: March 19, 2003 By: /s/ Dennis W. Healey

Dennis W. Healey
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
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